MINUTES of the meeting of the CHILDREN, FAMILIES, LIFELONG LEARNING & CULTURE SELECT COMMITTEE held at 10.00 am on 13 December 2021 as a REMOTE & INFORMAL MEETING.

These minutes are subject to confirmation by the Committee at its meeting on Monday, 17 January 2022.

#### **Elected Members:**

- \* Ayesha Azad (Vice-Chairman)
- \* Liz Bowes (Chairman)
- \* Fiona Davidson
- \* Jonathan Essex
- \* Rachael Lake
  - Andy Lynch
- \* Michaela Martin
- \* Mark Sugden
- \* Alison Todd
- \* Liz Townsend
  - Chris Townsend (Vice-Chairman)
- \* Jeremy Webster
- \* Fiona White

#### **Co-opted Members:**

- \* Mr Simon Parr, Diocesan Representative for the Catholic Church
- \* Mrs Tanya Quddus, Parent Governor Representative
- \* Mr Alex Tear, Diocesan Representative for the Anglican Church, Diocese of Guildford

## 41/21 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS [Item 1]

Apologies were received from Chris Townsend.

# 42/21 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING: MONDAY, 18 OCTOBER 2021 [Item 2]

Minutes to be agreed at the next public meeting.

### 43/21 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST [Item 3]

Fiona White declared a personal interest in relation to an aspect of Item 5. The Member was to leave during the discussion of that aspect of the Item.

Declaration: Surrey County Council representative on the Limnerslease Management Committee, part of the Artist Village at Watts Gallery.

## 44/21 QUESTIONS AND PETITIONS [Item 4]

#### Witness:

Tina Benjamin, Director - Corporate Parenting

- 1. A question had been received from Fiona Davidson.
- As a supplementary question, the Member asked whether the same data could be provided with reference to full-time equivalent social workers, rather than based on the number of social workers.
- 3. The Director Corporate Parenting replied that the data could be provided at a later date.
- 4. A Member asked whether there was guidance for part-time social workers regarding caseload numbers. The Director highlighted that experience of social workers was a greater factor when distributing the caseload, which was also dependent on the varied demands of each child. Social worker caseloads was closely managed by managers.

#### Action:

 The Director of Corporate Parenting to provide data, including commentary on caseload, on the number of full-time social workers by the next public meeting, in January 2022.

## 45/21 SCRUTINY OF 2022/23 DRAFT BUDGET AND MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY TO 2026/27 [Item 5]

#### Witnesses:

Becky Rush, Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources
Clare Curran, Cabinet Member for Children and Families

Denise Turner-Stewart, Cabinet Member for Education and Learning Mark Nuti, Cabinet Member for Communities

Rachael Wardell, Executive Director for Children, Families and Lifelong Learning

Marie Snelling, Executive Director for Customer and Communities Susan Wills, Assistant Director for Cultural Services and Registrations

Rachel Wigley, Director - Finance Insights and Performance

Daniel Peattie, Strategic Finance Business Partner – Children, Families and Lifelong Learning

Nikki O'Connor, Strategic Finance Business Partner – Improvement and TPP/Resources

Mark Hak-Sanders, Strategic Finance Business Partner - Corporate

#### **Key points raised in the discussion:**

- 1. The Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources explained that the council's draft Budget for 2022/23 contained a gap of £19.5 million, including a £2.2 million gap in the Children, Families and Lifelong Learning (CFLL) Directorate and a £8.6 million gap in the High Needs Block. There was a focus on self-funding opportunities within the Capital Programme, as well as those which would deliver revenue savings in the future.
- 2. The Strategic Finance Business Partner Corporate explained that the budget setting process was underpinned by core planning assumptions developed under the PESTLE Framework (political, environmental, social, technological, legal and economic factors). Funding projections were based on expected council tax, business rate and government grant income. The Local Government Finance Settlement was expected later in the week, which would establish central government funding and provide clarity on the council's funding position. Each directorate had been asked to identify efficiencies to contribute towards closing the gap for 2022/23 and the medium-term. The Capital Programme was described as being at the limit of what the council could afford. Consultation with residents and stakeholders on draft proposals and Equality Impact

Assessments would conclude at the end of December. The final budget was to be presented to Cabinet in January 2022 and approved by Cabinet in February 2022.

- 3. The Strategic Finance Business Partner highlighted that the budget setting process was built around the Community Vision 2030 and the council's priority objectives. The draft corporate budgetary position presented net pressures of £71.1 million, which was expected to be offset by an assumed funding increase of £2.4 million and efficiencies of £49.8 million, leaving a net gap of £19.5 million to close. The pressures were largely associated with pay and contract inflation and increased demand for services. Efficiencies which had been rated as red (achievable but challenging and/or complex to deliver) accounted for £11.1 million of the overall efficiencies, similar to the £10.8 million in the 2021/22 budget.
- 4. At month seven of 2021/22, an overspend of £17 million for the directorate budget envelope was forecast. The overspend was largely across Adult Social Care (£3 million), CFLL (£7.1 million), and the DSG High Needs Block offset (£8.8 million). These were offset largely by an underspend in Environment, Transport and Infrastructure due to an improvement in waste prices. The overall council position at the end of the 2021/22 financial year was expected to be balanced, with reserves supplemented with unused contingency.
- 5. The Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) for 2022-27 was based on the same core planning assumptions. The assumed funding gap over the 5-year MTFS was £157.4 million, which reflected the anticipated budget requirement and spending pressures and the expected funding reduction from 2023/34.
- 6. The Select Committee was informed that the total contingency available for 2022/23 was approximately £58 million, which would be supplemented by any used amounts from the 2021/22 budget.
- 7. Consultation had found that protection of funding for services that support vulnerable residents, including adult social care and services for children, was of high importance to residents, as were joining-up services to improve outcomes, putting vulnerable people at the heart of decision-making, and greater involvement of residents in decision-making and delivery affecting local places. Residents also supported the shift to early

intervention/prevention, wanted guidance on how they could make a difference in their areas and wanted the council to lobby Government for support for the county to transition to a greener future. A call for evidence which was open to all stakeholders would run until the 28 December and its findings would be included in the final budget report.

- 8. The Director Finance Insights and Performance outlined the Twin Track approach to budget setting to be used by the council going forward.
- 9. A Member asked how much of the current financial year's red ragged efficiencies were in the CFLL Directorate Budget and how much of that sum was likely to be saved. The Strategic Finance Business Partner Corporate stated that there was a correlation in the distribution of the red-rated efficiencies between the two financial years, as in 2021/22 they were also predominantly found in adult social care and the CFLL Directorate. It was highlighted that a lot of the in-year overspend pertained to the ongoing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, which had not been anticipated when that Budget was agreed adequate contingency was available to meet that pressure. The Strategic Finance Business Partner CFLL stated that £3.6 million of undelivered efficiencies were expected within the Directorate in the 2021/22 financial year, mostly associated with levels of social care demand.
- 10. A Member queried how much of the adult social care precept had been levied already and how much remained. The Strategic Finance Business Partner Corporate stated that the 2022/23 draft Budget assumed no use of the adult social care precept. In the 2021/22 Budget, of the available 3%, a precept of 0.5% was used; the Spending Review earlier in 2021 provided a further flexibility of 1% per year over the course of the three-year Spending Review period, making an adult social care precept of 3.5% available for the 2022/23 Budget.
- 11. The Member asked to what extent a reduction of the government grant funding over the medium term had been factored into the budgets for 2022/23 and 2023/24. The Strategic Finance Business Partner explained that for the 2022/23 budget there was no such funding reduction expected, but from 2023/34 onwards there was a high-level assumption that government funding for the council would disappear altogether over the course of a five-

- year transitional period. This was suspected to be somewhat offset by an increase in the council tax base.
- 12. A Member asked how the council-wide draft Budget and MTFS would affect the delivery of the Community Vision 2030 and the council's four priority objectives. The Strategic Finance Business Partner – Corporate stated that the council set its budget with regard to the Community Vision 2030 and the four priority objectives. This was shown through decisions regarding whether directorates were required to close budget gaps in their entirety or whether additional funding could be directed to those services. Thus, it was unlikely that the budget gaps for 2022/23 for Adult Social Care, CFLL and DSG High Needs Block would be closed through further efficiencies. The Member queried how the draft Budget and the MTFS took account of the resident's priorities. The Strategic Finance Business Partner stated that the consultation with residents which took place prior to the draft Budget being presented to Cabinet reflected resident's key priority of protecting the services that delivered to the most vulnerable residents. The total investment into such services had increased at a higher rate than the council's total funding.
- 13. The Member asked how the future funding had been estimated in the draft Budget, the level of confidence in those estimates, the accuracy of previous estimates and whether any further clarity around the Local Government Finance Settlement had been received since publication of the draft Budget report pack. The Strategic Finance Business Partner said that the final funding position of the previous financial year was as had been assumed, the one exception was the additional COVID-19 funding included in the Settlement. The current financial year was difficult to predict due to the varied mechanisms central government could utilise to distribute the £1.6 billion of additional local government funding included in the Chancellor's Autumn budget.
- 14. The Executive Director for Customer and Communities introduced the Customer and Communities draft Budget for 2022/23. The net budget for the Directorate was £10.8 million, including income in excess of £10 million. Directorate pressures, largely associated with pay inflation, were £0.7 million, added to the Directorate's share of the corporate funding gap resulted in an overall gap of £0.9 million. The Directorate had, as a result, identified £0.8 million of efficiencies, which left £0.1 million of the overall gap left to close. The draft Budget assumed service

income was to return to pre-COVID levels, this remained a risk and challenge which would be closely monitored. The draft Capital Programme contained £34 million of investment into the Libraries Transformation Programme – a five-year programme to modernise libraries had been agreed at Cabinet in November 2021.

- 15. A Member enquired about the basis of the assumption that service income would return to pre-COVID levels and the degree of confidence in that assumption. The Strategic Finance Business Partner Improvement and TPP/Resources highlighted the challenge of this assumption and highlighted that there had already been positive movements in the latter half of the 2021/22 financial year, especially in the Registration service, although £500,000 of COVID funding had been used to support the Directorate in the 2021/22 financial year due to a sustained loss of income.
- 16. The Member asked about the terms, methodology and the objectives of the comprehensive review of the Heritage Service. The Assistant Director for Cultural Services Libraries and Registration explained that the review was based on ensuring value for money within the service whilst improving the offer, such as through digitalisation.

#### Fiona White left the meeting at 11:15.

17. A Member raised the issue of a broken lift at Weybridge Library that had been out of order for over a year, preventing hire income. The Cabinet Member for Communities told the Member this would be followed up and he would respond to the Member directly. There had been a similar issue with a lift in Guildford Library and there was great difficulty obtaining the correct parts in order to fix the lifts. The Executive Director for Customer and Communities added that there had been a backlog of maintenance issues at the council's libraries, which were being addressed with Land and Property colleagues.

## Fiona White rejoined the meeting 11:22.

18. The Cabinet Member for Children and Families introduced the CFLL directorate pack by highlighting the increased demand for the Directorate's services. Significant pressures arose from staffing costs, recruitment and retention of social workers and children's placements in the 2021/22 year, which had been

factored into the 2022/23 draft Budget. The Cabinet Member for Education and Learning explained that there was rigorous monitoring of the progress of the transformation programme aiming to bring High Needs Block spending back into balance within the next five years. There had been discussions with the Department of Education (DfE) regarding a Safety Valve agreement. A review was underway to reduce home to school transport spending and increase independence for young people and was to be taken to Cabinet on 14 December 2021.

- 19. A Member asked what impact government's SEND review could have on the assumptions around funding for the 2022/23 budget and the MTFS. The Strategic Finance Business Partner – CFLL explained that the current assumptions around ongoing funding for the High Needs Block included an 8% year on year increase in funding, which was based on previous years and was likely to be broadly correct for the next couple of years. Following this, the indications suggest that it could then reduce from the current level.
- 20. A Member brought attention to a number of cases where eligible children were still yet to have been provided with home to school transport for the current academic year, which has resulted in children missing their education. The Executive Director for Children, Families and Lifelong Learning acknowledged the situation and recognised the impact this was having on some families. The number of eligible children without transport was lower than in previous years and the commissioning team continued to work hard to try and resolve the issue on a case-bycase basis. The issues were usually due to negotiations with providers or families about suitable provision. The Cabinet Member for Education and Learning added that the review was considering the council delivering some provision itself and utilising community vehicles and was to ensure parents were well informed about the home to school transport offer.
- 21. A Member asked how the draft Budget and MTFS would meet the needs of the Directorate's service users by improving outcomes whilst addressing its key financial challenges and the council's strategic priorities. The Executive Director highlighted that the approach taken was about working differently to better meet families' needs at a lower cost, such as through the prior introduction of the new Family Safeguarding Model and the creation of more in-county placements. The Member asked

officers to explain the main drivers of pressures in the draft Budget and MTFS. The Executive Director stated that children's services were yet to witness the reduction in demand expected as a result of practice changes implemented prior to the pandemic, although they had mitigated demand; during the pandemic, the council had more children in care, as well as an increase in the number of children with additional needs supported in education and with Educational Health and Care plans. The Member highlighted the challenge of the high number of agency social workers and the financial pressure this created. The Executive Director stated that agency workers cost around £23,000 more than permanent staff and some of the planned efficiencies aimed to reduce this pressure in a number of ways. An improved OFSTED rating would likely improve the recruitment and retention of permanent staff. The Member asked what changes to the level of need and demand were expected in the next financial year and MTFS. The Executive Director explained that the Directorate had experienced an increase in the level of need and demand as a result of the pandemic.

- 22. A Member sought further clarity and context around the efficiencies rated red and amber and which would result in service reductions. The Member questioned the Service's readiness of delivering the substantial efficiency related to the No Wrong Door programme, as well as many other efficiencies related to looked after children. The Executive Director explained that efficiencies had been focused on areas where the Service was facing the greatest financial pressures. The Director - Corporate Parenting shared that through the shadow-form/pilot No Wrong Door service, a significant number of children had been diverted from entering care. The planned efficiencies were described as challenging and ambitious, but there were some which were more likely to be achieved than the table suggested, such as quality and performance staffing. The Executive Director shared that the placement costs for Unaccompanied AsylumSeeking Children (UASC) were covered by the Home Office, but the increased demand on social workers was unmet.
- 23. A Member asked about the numbers of children who had secured placements in non-maintained independent school settings and the resulting cost to the Education Service. The Executive Director stated that there was a significant cost difference between a non-maintained independent setting and a maintained special school of around £30,000 per placement. At the pre-16 stage, the Education Service had over 1,000 children in non-

maintained independent settings and a further 277 young people at post-16. The Cabinet Member for Adult and Learning added that the Service had a stepping down policy to move children into Surrey schools where appropriate.

- 24. A Member asked how many 18-25 year olds could be impacted by the planned efficiency of no longer funding housing provision which had originally been commissioned for care leavers but was not being allocated accordingly by District and Borough Councils, and in what way they might be impacted. The Executive Director explained that this would reduce the housing options for some young adults, but these were young adults to whom the council did not such duties as it did care leavers.
- 25. The Member asked how the planned efficiencies related to the home to school transport review might adversely affect learners. The Executive Director explained there were statutory requirements, such as in respect of the length of journeys, which were always complied with. The planned efficiency was focused on exploring alternative transport options for these children which could reduce costs, whilst ensuring suitability and building independence.
- 26. A Member asked which of the efficiencies directly impacted on areas of delivery where performance was significantly below target. The Executive Director stated that performance should not be impacted in any of those areas, as there would be no reduction in staffing. The Member questioned whether there was a need for additional staffing in these areas, especially Educational Health and Care plan caseworkers. The Executive Director stated that stability and training of staffing was more important than an increase in the number of staff.

#### **Actions:**

- Strategic Finance Business Partner Children, Families and Lifelong Learning to share the number of children with SEND placed in non-maintained independent settings with the Select Committee.
- ii. The Executive Director for Children, Families and Lifelong Learning to provide the number of 18-25 year olds with no prior Surrey County Council contact that would be affected by the planned efficiency.

#### **Recommendation:**

 After the meeting, the Committee shall agree wording for inclusion in a joint report from the council's Select Committees to the Cabinet in respect of the draft Budget 2022/23 and Medium-term Financial Strategy to 2026/27. That wording shall be drafted under the oversight of the Chairman and Vice-Chairmen and then shared with the Committee for agreement.

## 46/21 ACTIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS TRACKER AND FORWARD WORK PLAN [Item 6]

- 1. A Member brought attention to a number of actions and recommendations which had been on the tracker for an extensive period of time without a clear indication as to when responses would be provided and sought clarification regarding the progress of outstanding actions. The Executive Director stated that these outstanding actions had been chased. A Member proposed that a response to all outstanding actions would be provided by the next public meeting of the Select Committee, unless there were significant reasons why it could not be possible. The Chairman noted the views of the Members and the Executive Director and stated that an appropriate approach would be established moving forward.
- 2. The Cabinet Member for Families and Children shared that she had suggested at Cabinet that a cross-party task group of the Select Committee could be a helpful way to monitor the implementation of the Child Poverty Action Plan. The Scrutiny Officer explained that a sub-group comprising Members from across the Select Committees had been discussed with the Committee's Chairman and Vice-Chairmen and scrutiny officer colleagues.

## 47/21 DATE OF THE NEXT MEETING [Item 7]

The Select Committee noted that its next meeting would be held on Tuesday, 18 January 2022.

					Chairman
	ended a	. 12.55			
N/looting	andad a	い 1つ ひん	nm		

This page is intentionally left blank

## Question to Children, Families, Lifelong Learning and Culture Select Committee – 13 December 2021

In the light of the recent appalling death of Arthur Labinjo-Hughes there has been a great deal of focus on the workload and inexperience of many front line children's social workers. Can you please advise:

- How many cases an ordinary level children's social worker at Surrey County Council is dealing with at any one time?
- What is the maximum children's social worker caseload that Surrey County Council sets?
- If and how Surrey County Council is ensuring that senior children's social workers with significant experience accompany less experienced workers on family visits to provide on-the-job training to spot parental deception and ensure that the child is spoken to directly, without parental involvement?

## Response

 We are able to monitor the caseloads of all practitioners supporting children, young people and families. As of 7 December 2021, the average caseloads for our social workers and other practitioners are as follows:

		Case Holders	Average
Team	Cases		Caseload*
Assessment Teams	1,192	72	16.6
Children with			
Disabilities	803	49	16.4
Family Safeguarding	1,917	119	16.1
Fostering & Adoption	133	26	5.1
Leaving Care	783	51	15.4
Looked After Children	768	62	12.4
Other	11	4	2.8
Safeguarding			
Adolescent	642	42	15.3
Overall	6,249	425	14.7

(\*Caseload is based on headcount, not FTE)

 There is no fixed 'maximum' caseload for social workers or other case holding practitioners within children's services. We do however have an aspiration for no social worker to hold more than 15 cases at any one time. This does differ depending on the complexity and nature of the social work cases and managers are routinely assessing the workload of practitioners to ensure it is suitable and manageable.

- Regarding the support we provide to Newly Qualified Social Workers (NQSWs):
  - o In terms of induction NQSWs have a two week induction which covers Motivational Interviewing, Emotional Resilience and SelfCare, Personal Safety, Abuse & Neglect, Social Work Law, Genograms/Ecomaps/Chronologies, Home Visits and Chairing Meetings, Safeguarding Approach- Social Work Practice Model, What does 'Good Practice' look like and speakers from Health, Police, Children's Single Point of Access, Fostering, User Participation.
  - Then in their Assessed and Supported Year in Employment (ASYE), the NQSWs are supported by their Team Managers who provide them with reflective supervision on a weekly basis for the first six weeks, then fortnightly from six weeks to six months and thereafter on a monthly basis. In addition, the quadrant based ASYE Assessor facilitates monthly ASYE Learning Events which incorporate Action Learning Sets and provides the NQSW with monthly supervision on an individual or group basis.
  - NQSWs are provided with two days each month of protected time; one day to attend the monthly ASYE Learning Events and one day to work on their ASYE portfolio.
  - The caseload for NQSWs is 25% of a 'standard' caseload at three months, 50% at six months and then from six to twelve months in the role, this increases steadily (to 90% of a normal caseload) and complexity.
  - The quadrant based ASYE Assessor undertakes the assessment of the NQSW at the review stages of three, six and eleven months, in partnership with the NQSW and their Team Manager.
  - NQSWs also have a 12-month probation period.

Liz Bowes, Chairman – Children, Families, Lifelong Learning and Culture Select Committee